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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA 

ELKINS 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v.          Criminal Action No. 2:19-CR-19 

          (KLEEH) 

 

ROGER D. CLEM, JR. and 

ALTON L. SKINNER, II, 

 

Defendants. 

 

UNITED STATES’ UNOPPOSED MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL 

 Comes now the United States of America and William J. Powell, United States Attorney 

for the Northern District of West Virginia, by Jarod J. Douglas, Assistant United States Attorney 

for said District, and moves for a continuance of the trial date for the 12-month period 

contemplated in the attached Deferred Prosecution Agreements (“DPAs”), see Exhibits No. 1 and 

No. 2, based upon the following: 

1. On May 7, 2019, a Federal grand jury in Clarksburg, West Virginia returned the 

subject Indictment [Doc. 1].  Count One charges both of the defendants with Conspiracy to 

Commit Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 

1343, and 1349.  Counts Two and Three charge both of the defendants with Wire Fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.  Counts Four and Five charge both of the 

defendants with Mail Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.  Counts 

Six and Eight charge Defendant Alton L. Skinner, II and Defendant Roger D. Clem, Jr., 

respectively, with Obstruction of Justice, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1512(c)(2). 
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 2. Subject to the approval of the Court, the defendants and the United States have 

entered into the attached DPAs, see Exhibits No. 1 and No. 2, which contemplate the dismissal 

of the Indictment in the event that the defendants successfully complete a 12-month diversion 

program.1 

 3. “[T]he decision of whether a particular defendant may participate in a pretrial 

diversion program is entrusted to the United States Attorney.  Like other prosecutorial decisions, 

the government has broad discretion in determining which defendants are best suited for pretrial 

diversion.  As such, these decisions are ill-suited for judicial review, and courts should be hesitant 

to examine the government’s decision whether to prosecute.”  United States v. Presgraves, Jr., 

3:11-CR-38 (N.D.W.V. Bailey), [Doc. 22] (internal quotations and citations omitted). 

 4. The period of delay for the purpose of allowing the defendants to demonstrate their 

good conduct is properly excluded from the Speedy Trial Act clock pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 

3161(h)(2), which excludes “[a]ny period of delay during which prosecution is deferred by the 

attorney for the Government pursuant to written agreement with the defendant, with the approval 

of the court, for the purpose of allowing the defendant to demonstrate his good conduct.” 

 5. The undersigned has consulted with defense counsel, who indicate no objection to 

the instant motion. 

WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully asks this Court to continue the trial date for 

the duration of the attached Deferred Prosecution Agreements.2 

                                                      
1 Unlike a traditional pretrial diversion agreement, a deferred prosecution agreement is strictly 

between the parties and does not require oversight or any involvement from the United States 

Probation Office. 
2 In the alternative, the United States requests that this Court stay this criminal action pending the 

diversionary period, but still make the Speedy Trial Act findings to exclude the period of the stay 

from computation.  See United States v. Bayliss and Ramey, Inc., 5:16-CR-44 (N.D.W.V. Stamp), 

Order Granting as Framed United States’ Unopposed Motion to Continue Trial [Doc. 6]. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

WILLIAM J. POWELL 

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

 

By: /s/ Jarod J. Douglas                   

Jarod J. Douglas 

Assistant U. S. Attorney 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I, Jarod J. Douglas, Assistant United States Attorney for the Northern District of West Virginia, 

hereby certify that on the 25th day of September 2019, the foregoing UNITED STATES’ UNOPPOSED 

MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL was electronically filed with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF 

system which will send notification of such filing to the following: 

Harry A. Smith, III, Esq.   

Jory & Smith, L.C. 

One Randolph Avenue 

P.O. Box 1909 

Elkins, WV 26241 

Counsel for Roger D. Clem, Jr. 

 

Thomas G. Dyer, Esq.   

Dyer Law Offices  

PO Box 1332  

Clarksburg, WV 26302 

Counsel for Alton Skinner, II 

        

       /s/ Jarod J. Douglas                   

Jarod J. Douglas 

Assistant U. S. Attorney 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

ELKINS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintifl

v Criminal Action No. 2:19-CR-19-001
(KLEEH)

ROGER D. CLEM, JR.,

Defendant.

DEFERRED PROSECUTION AGREEMENT

Defendant Roger D. Clem, Jr. and the United States Attomey's Office for the Northern

District of West Virginia (the "Office") hereby enter into this Deferred Prosecution Agreement

(the "Agreement"). Except as specifically provided below, and in accordance with the provisions

specified below, this Agreement shall be in effect for a period of twelve (12) months.

Indictment

1. On May 7,2019, a Federal grand jury in Clarksburg, West Virginia returned the

subject Indictment [Doc. 1]. Count One charges Defendant Clem with Conspiracy to Commit

Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341,1343, and

1349. Counts Two and Three charge Defendant Clem with Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1343. Counts Four and Five charge Defendant Clem with Mail

Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. Count Eight charges Defendant

Clem with Obstruction of Justice, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(c)(2).

1
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Acceptance of Responsibilitv

2. Defendant Clem accepts responsibility for the conduct set forth in the Indictment

by entering into this Agreement and by, among other things: (a) the remedial actions that

Defendant Clem will take (described in paragraphs 3 through 5 below); (b) Defendant Clem's

commitment to full cooperation (described in paragraphs 6 through 8 below) with the Office and

its law enforcement agency partners; (c) Defendant Clem's agreement to fulfill all of the

undertakings he has made in this Agreement, including his agreement to comply in the future with

all federal and state criminal laws.

Remedial Actions

3. Within seven (7) days of execution of this Agreement, Defendant Clem will resign

his position as Magistrate of Lewis County, West Virginia.

4. Defendant Clem agrees never again to seek public office by election or appointment

anywhere in the United States.

5. Defendant Clem agrees to cooperate with the West Virginia Judicial Investigation

Commission ("JIC") by entering into an agreement with Judiciary Disciplinary Counsel within

thirty (30) days of execution of this Agreement. The Office having conferred with Judiciary

Disciplinary Counsel, the JIC agreement shall have the following terms and conditions:

a. Defendant Clem will agree that the JIC has sufficient evidence to support the

following facts:

i. From in or about March 2017 to in or about March 2018, Defendant Skinner

was significantly involved in the operation of a bail bonding company called

E-Z-Out Bonding LLC ("V-Z-Out") in Lewis County, West Virginia.

2
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During this period, Defendant Roger D. Clem, Jr. was a Lewis County

magistrate who admitted multiple defendants to the bail of E-Z-Out.

ii. From in or about March 2017 to in or about March 2018, Defendant Clem

used his cell phone approximately two-hundred (200) times to call E-Z-Out,

usually by calling the cell phone of Defendant Skinner. The vast majority

of these telephone calls were in close proximity to arraignments conducted

by Defendant Clem and related to bonding. Following these phone calls,

Defendant Skinner would ensure that an E-Z-Out bonding agent appeared

at the Lewis County courthouse to post the bonds.

iii. Between March 2017 and March 2018, on multiple occasions, Defendant

Clem willfully failed to present a list of authorized bail bonding companies

to a detainee who appeared before him, and instead called Defendant

Skinner directly to ensure thatB-Z-Out would be the bail bonding company

to post the bond.

b. Defendant Clem will not contest that he violated Rules I.l, 1.2, 1.3,2.4(B), and

2.13(A) of the Code of Judicial Conduct as a result of the above-outlined facts;

c. Defendant Clem will resign his position as Magistrate of Lewis County and provide

copies of his resignation letter to Judicial Disciplinary Counsel, the Chief Justice

of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, and the Chief Judge of the 26th

Judicial Circuit;

d. Defendant Clem will agree to never again seek public office by election or

appointment in West Virginia;

1J
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e. Defendant Clem will agree with the Judicial Disciplinary Counsel to jointly

recommend to the Judicial Hearing Board and the Supreme Court of Appeals of

West Virginia that Defendant Clem be publicly censured for his violations of the

Code of Judicial Conduct, that he pay a fine in the amount of $ 1,000.00, and that

he pay the costs of the disciplinary proceedings and no further sanctions;

f. Defendant will agree and acknowledge that the decision to accept the

recommendation of a censure, fine and costs rests solely within the purview of the

Judicial Hearing Board and the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

Defendant will agree and acknowledge that the Judicial Hearing Board and the

Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia have the authority to recommend or

give either more or less severe sanctions outlined in Rule 41.2 of the West Virginia

Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure; and

g. Defendant Clem will agree and acknowledge that if at a future time he seeks public

office by election or appointment, this action would void the agreement with the

JIC and the JIC would be able to take such further action on the matter as it deems

appropriate.

Continuins Obligation of Cooperation

6. Defendant Clem acknowledges and understands that his prior, ongoing and future

cooperation is an important and material factor underlying the Office's decision to enter into this

Agreement, and therefore, Defendant Clem agrees to continue to cooperate fully and actively with

the Office regarding any matter about which the Office may inquire.

4
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7. During the term of this Agreement, Defendant Clem agrees that his continuing

cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

a. completely and truthfully disclosing all information in his possession to the Office

regarding any and all matters about which the Office may inquire;

b. assembling, organizing and providing all documents, records and other evidence in

Defendant Clem's possession, custody or control, as reasonably may be requested

by the Office;

c. proactively disclosing to the Office all information concerning any criminal

wrongdoing or suspected criminal wrongdoing beyond that specifically addressed

in the Indictment, which has not yet been explicitly disclosed to the Office, and

which is either currently in Defendant Clem's possession or which may come into

his possession in the future, including conduct of the type alleged in the Indictment;

d. using his reasonable best efforts to make himself available to provide information

and/or testimony as requested by the Office, including sworn testimony before a

grand jury or in court proceedings, as well as interviews with law enforcement

authorities. Cooperation under this paragraph shall include identification of

witnesses who, to Defendant Clem knowledge and information,frdy have material

information concerning the conduct set forth in the Indictment;

e. providing testimony or information necessary to identiff or establish the original

location, authenticity, or other basis for admission into evidence of documents or

physical evidence in any criminal or other proceeding as requested by the Office,

concerning the conduct set forth in the Indictment;

5

Case 2:19-cr-00019-TSK-MJA   Document 40-1   Filed 09/25/19   Page 5 of 11  PageID #: 141



f. with respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or physical

evidence provided by Defendant Clem to the Office and/or a grand jury, consenting

to any and all disclosures of such materials to such agencies as the Office, in its

sole discretion, deems appropriate. With respect to any such materials that

constitute "matters occurring before the grand jury" within the meaning of Rule

6(e) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Defendant Clem further consents

to: (i) any order sought by the Office permitting such disclosures; and (ii) the

Office's ex parte or in camera application for such orders; and

g. providing active assistance, as may be required by the Office, in connection with

any investigation, criminal prosecution, civil trial or other legal proceeding brought

by the Office.

8. Defendant Clem agrees that he will continue to fulfill the cooperation obligations

set forth in paragraph 6 above in connection with any investigation, criminal prosecution, andlor

civil proceeding brought by the Office relating to or arising out of the conduct set forth in the

Indictment. Defendant Clem's obligation to cooperate is not intended to apply in the event that

he is a defendant in any such proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Defendant Clem does

not waive any privilege it may have with respect to any documents now or hereafter subject to the

attomey-client privilege, the attorney work-product doctrine, or other recognized legal privilege.

Deferral of Prosecution

9. In consideration of Defendant Clem's remedial actions to date and his commitment

to (a) accept and acknowledge responsibility for his conduct, (b) continue his cooperation with the

Office, (c) comply with federal and state criminal laws and (d) otherwise comply with all of the

6
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terms of this Agreement, the Office shall, following execution of this Agreement, file a joint

motion with Defendant Clem pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3 161(hX2), to defer

the prosecution for a period of twelve (12) months and to obtain an exclusion of time under the

Speedy Trial Act to allow Defendant Clem to demonstrate good conduct and compliance with the

terms of this Agreement (the "$ 3161(hX2) Motion"). By executing this Agreement and joining

in the S 3161(hX2) Motion, Defendant Clem expressly waives all rights to a speedy trial pursuant

to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Title 18, United States Code, Sections

3161 et seq., Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(b), and any other applicable statutes or rules,

including the Local Rules of the United States District Court for the Northern District of West

Virginia for the period during which this Agreement is in effect. This waiver is knowing,

voluntary and in express reliance on the advice of Defendant Clem's counsel.

10. The Office agrees that, if Defendant Clem remains in compliance with all of his

obligations under this Agreement for the l2-month period identified in paragraph 9, this

Agreement shall expire, and the Office will, within thirty (30) days of the expiration of this

Agreement, move the Court pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(a) to dismiss the

Indictment with prejudice. Except in the event of a breach of this Agreement, the Office will

bring no additional charges against Defendant Clem relating to or arising out of the matters set

forth in the Indictment.

1 1. It is further understood that, should the Office determine that Defendant Clem has

deliberately given materially false, incomplete, or misleading information pursuant to this

Agreement; has committed any crimes subsequent to the date of this Agreement; or has otherwise

knowingly, intentionally, and materially violated any provision of this Agreement, Defendant

7
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Clem thereafter shall be subject to prosecution for any crimes of which the Office has knowledge.

Any such prosecution may be premised on any information provided by or on behalf of Defendant

Clem to the Office or its law enforcement agency partners at any time. Moreover, Defendant

Clem agrees that any such prosecution relating to the allegations in the Indictment that are not

time-barred as of the date of the execution of this Agreement may be commenced against

Defendant Clem, notwithstanding the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations between

the execution of this Agreement and the expiration of this Agreement under paragraph 10. By

this Agreement, Defendant Clem expressly intends to and does waive any and all rights in this

respect. Such waiver is knowing, voluntary and in express reliance on the advice of Defendant

Clem's counsel.

12. It is further agreed that, in the event that the Office determines that Defendant Clem

has knowingly, intentionally and materially violated any provision of this Agreement:

a. this Agreement and the Indictment are admissible in any future court proceedings

by this Office against Defendant Clem as an admission by Defendant Clem; all

statements made by or on behalf of Defendant Clem to the Offrce and its law

enforcement agency partners, including any testimony given by Defendant Clem

before a grand jury or elsewhere, whether before or after the date ofthis Agreement,

and any leads derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in

evidence in any and all criminal proceedings brought by the Office against

Defendant Clem; and

8
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b. Defendant Clem shall not assert any claim under the United States Constitution,

Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal

Rules of Evidence or any other statute or federal rule that statements made by or on

behalf of Defendant Clem before or after the date of this Agreement, or any leads

derived therefrom, should be suppressed. However, nothing in the Agreement

shall constitute a waiver of any Confrontation Clause rights under the Sixth

Amendment to the United States Constitution that Defendant Clem may have.

13. Defendant Clem agrees that he shall not personally or through his attomey make

any public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting his acceptance of responsibility for

the stipulated conduct in the JIC agreement. Any such contradictory statement by Defendant

Clem or his present attorney shall constitute a breach of this Agreement, and, subject to cure as

hereinafter provided, Defendant Clem thereafter shall be subject to prosecution as specified in

paragraphs 9 through 12. The decision as to whether any such contradictory statement will be

imputed to Defendant Clem for the purpose of determining whether Defendant Clem has breached

this Agreement shall be committed to the sole discretion of the Office. Upon the Office's

notiffing Defendant Clem of any such contradictory statement, Defendant Clem may avoid a

finding of a breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement within seventy-two

(72) hours after receipt of notice by the Office.

14. It is understood that this Agreement is binding on Defendant Clem and the Office,

but specifically does not bind any other federal agencies, any state or local law enforcement

agencies, any licensing authorities or any regulatory authorities. However, if requested by

Defendant Clem or his attorney, the Office will bring to the attention of any such agencies,

9

Case 2:19-cr-00019-TSK-MJA   Document 40-1   Filed 09/25/19   Page 9 of 11  PageID #: 145



including but not limited to any licensing authorities, the Agreement, the extensive cooperation of

Clem and his compliance with his obligations under this Agreement. It is the intent of the parties

to this Agreement that the Agreement does not confer or provide any benefits, privileges or rights

to any individual or other entity other than the parties hereto, and that nothing in the Agreement

shall be construed as acknowledging that the Agreement, including the Indictment and the

evidence underlying the Agreement or Indictment, shall be admissible in any proceeding other

than a proceeding brought by the Office. Moreover, Defendant Clem may raise any and all

defenses andlor assert affirmative claims in any civil proceedings brought by third parties as long

as doing so does not otherwise violate any term of this Agreement.

15. The Office has concluded that deferring prosecution is appropriate because deferral

will likely meet all of the goals of prosecution. This conclusion is based on Defendant Clem's

cooperation, his acceptance of responsibility, and the remedial actions Defendant Clem has

committed to undertake in this Agreement.

16. Defendant Clem and the Office agree that, upon the execution of this Agreement,

this Agreement (including any attachments) shall be publicly filed in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of West Virginia.

10
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L7, This Agreement sets forth all the terms of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement

between Defendant Clem and the Offioe. No modifications or additions to this Agreement shall

be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the Offtce, Defendant's attomeys and Defendant

Clem.

Dated:

WILLIAM J. POWELL

By:

U.S. Attorney

AGREED AND CONSENTED TO BY:

Roger Jr., Defendant

Harry A. Smith, for Defendant Clem

1l
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IN THE T]NITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

ELKINS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v Criminal Action No. 2: 19-CR-19-002
(KLEErr)

ALTON L. SKINNER,II,

Defendant.

DEFERRED PROSECUTION AGREEMENT

Defendant Alton L. Skinner, II and the United States Attomey's Office for the Northern

District of West Virginia (the "Office") hereby enter into this Deferred Prosecution Agreement

(the "Agreement"). Except as specifically provided below, and in accordance with the provisions

specified below, this Agreement shall be in effect for a period of twelve (12) months.

Indictment

l. On May 7, 2019, a Federal grand jury in Clarksburg, West Virginia returned the

subject Indictment [Doc. 1]. Count One charges Defendant Skinner with Conspiracy to Commit

Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 1 8, United States Code, Sections l34l , 1343, and

1349. Counts Two and Three charge Defendant Skinner with Wire Fraud, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1343. Counts Four and Five charge Defendant Skinner with Mail

Fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. Count Six charges Defendant

Skinner with Obstruction of Justice, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1512(c)(2). Count Seven charges Defendant Skinner with False Statement to a Federal Agent, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

1
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Acceptance of Responsibility

2. Defendant Skinner accepts responsibility for the conduct set forth in the Indictment

by entering into this Agreement and by, among other things: (a) the remedial actions that

Defendant Skinner will take (described in paragraphs 3 through 6 below); (b) Defendant Skinner's

commitment to full cooperation (described in paragraphs 7 through 9 below) with the Office and

its law enforcement agency partners; (c) Defendant Skinner's agreement to fulfill all of the

undertakings he has made in this Agreement, including his agreement to comply in the future with

all federal and state criminal laws.

Remedial Actions

3. Within seven (7) days of execution of this Agreement, Defendant Skinner will

resign his position as Magistrate of Gilmer County, West Virginia.

4. Defendant Skinner agrees never agaun to seek public office by election or

appointment anyrvhere in the United States.

5. Defendant Skinner agrees never again to be involved in the bail bonding business

anywhere in the United States.

6. Defendant Skinner agrees to cooperate with the West Virginia Judicial

Investigation Commission ("JIC") by entering into an agreement with Judiciary Disciplinary

Counsel within thirty (30) days of execution of this Agreement. The Office having conferred with

Judiciary Disciplinary Counsel, the JIC agreement shall have the following terms and conditions:

a. Defendant Skinner will agree that the JIC has sufficient evidence to support the

following facts:

i. From in or about March 2017 to in or about March 2}l9,Defendant Skirurer

2
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was significantly involved in the operation of a bail bonding company called

E-Z-Ott Bonding LLC ("B-Z-Out") in Lewis County, West Virginia.

During this period, Defendant Roger D. Clem, Jr. was a Lewis County

magistrate who admitted multiple defendants to the bail of E-Z-Out.

ii. From in or about March 2017 to in or about March 2018, Defendant Clem

used his cell phone approximately two-hundred (200) times to call E-Z-aut,

usually by calling the cell phone of Defendant Skinner. The vast majority

of these telephone calls were in close proximity to arraignments conducted

by Defendant Clem and related to bonding. Following these phone calls,

Defendant Skinner would ensure that an E-Z-Ott bonding agent appeared

at the Lewis County courthouse to post the bonds.

iii. In or about February 2018, Defendant Skinner personally collected two

individuals from the West Virginia Central Regional Jail, whom Defendant

Clem had admitted to the bail of E-Z-Out, transported the individuals to a

financial institution, and accepted their bonding fee payments on behalf of

E-Z-Out.

b. Defendant Skinner will not contest that he violated Rules 1.1,1.2,3.1(A) and (C),

and 3.1l(CX1X3), and (4) of the Code of Judicial Conduct as a result of the above-

outlined facts;

c. Defendant Skinner will resign his position as Magistrate of Gilmer County and

provide copies of his resignation letter to Judicial Disciplinary Counsel, the Chief

Justice of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, and the Chief Judge of

J
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the 14th Judicial Circuit;

d. Defendant Skinner will agree to never again seek public office by election or

appointment in West Virginia;

e. Defendant Skinner will agree with the Judicial Disciplinary Counsel to jointly

recommend to the Judicial Hearing Board and the Supreme Court of Appeals of

West Virginia that Defendant Skinner be publicly censured for his violations of the

Code of Judicial Conduct, that he pay a fine in the amount of $ 1 ,000.00, and that

he pay the costs of the disciplinary proceedings;

f. Defendant will agree and acknowledge that the decision to accept the

recommendation of a censure, fine and costs rests solely within the purview of the

Judicial Hearing Board and the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

Defendant will agree and acknowledge that the Judicial Hearing Board and the

Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia have the authority to recommend or

give either more or less severe sanctions outlined in Rule 41.2 of the West Virginia

Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure; and

g. Defendant Skinner will agree and acknowledge that if at a future time he seeks

public office by election or appointment, this action would void the agreement with

the JIC and the JIC would be able to take such further action on the matter as it

deems appropriate.

4
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Continuine Oblisation of Cooperation

7. Defendant Skinner acknowledges and understands that his prior, ongoing and

future cooperation is an important and material factor underlying the Office's decision to enter

into this Agreement, and therefore, Defendant Skinner agrees to continue to cooperate fully and

actively with the Offrce regarding any matter about which the Office may inquire.

8. During the term of this Agreement, Defendant Skinner agrees that his continuing

cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

a. completely and truthfully disclosing all information in his possession to the Office

regarding any and all matters about which the Office may inquire;

b. assembling, organizing and providing all documents, records and other evidence in

Defendant Skinner's possession, custody or control, as reasonably may be

requested by the Office;

c. proactively disclosing to the Office all information concerning any criminal

wrongdoing or suspected criminal wrongdoing beyond that specifically addressed

in the Indictment, which has not yet been explicitly disclosed to the Office, and

which is either currently in Defendant Skinner's possession or which may come

into his possession in the future, including conduct of the type alleged in the

Indictment;

d. using his reasonable best efforts to make himself available to provide information

and/or testimony as requested by the Office, including sworn testimony before a

grand jury or in court proceedings, as well as interviews with law enforcement

authorities. Cooperation under this paragraph shall include identification of

5

Case 2:19-cr-00019-TSK-MJA   Document 40-2   Filed 09/25/19   Page 5 of 11  PageID #: 152



witnesses who, to Defendant Skinner knowledge and information, may have

material information conceming the conduct set forth in the Indictment;

e. providing testimony or information necessary to identifu or establish the original

location, authenticity, or other basis for admission into evidence of documents or

physical evidence in any criminal or other proceeding as requested by the Office,

concerning the conduct set forth in the Indictment;

f. with respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or physical

evidence provided by Defendant Skinner to the Office and./or a grand jury,

consenting to any and all disclosures of such materials to such agencies as the

Office, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. With respect to any such

materials that constitute "matters occurring before the grand jury" within the

meaning of Rule 6(e) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Defendant

Skinner further consents to: (i) any order sought by the Office permitting such

disclosures; and (ii) the Office's ex parte or in camera application for such orders;

and

g. providing active assistance, as may be required by the Office, in connection with

any investigation, criminal prosecution, civil trial or other legal proceeding brought

by the Office.

g. Defendant Skinner agrees that he will continue to fulfillthe cooperation obligations

set forth in paragraph 6 above in connection with any investigation, criminal prosecution, and/or

civil proceeding brought by the Offrce relating to or arising out of the conduct set forth in the

Indictment. Defendant Skinner's obligation to cooperate is not intended to apply in the event that

6
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he is a defendant in any such proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Defendant Skinner does

not waive any privilege it may have with respect to any documents now or hereafter subject to the

attomey-client privilege, the attorney work-product doctrine, or other recognized legal privilege.

Deferral of Prosecution

10. In consideration of Defendant Skinner's remedial actions to date and his

commitment to (a) accept and acknowledge responsibility for his conduct, (b) continue his

cooperation with the Office, (c) comply with federal and state criminal laws and (d) otherwise

comply with all of the terms of this Agreement, the Office shall, following execution of this

Agreement, file a joint motion with Defendant Skinner pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3161(hX2), to defer the prosecution for a period of twelve (12) months and to obtain an

exclusion of time under the Speedy Trial Act to allow Defendant Skinner to demonstrate good

conduct and compliance with the terms of this Agreement (the "$ 3161(hX2) Motion"). By

executing this Agreement and joining in the S 3161(h)(2) Motion, Defendant Skinner expressly

waives all rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States

Constitution, Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3161 et seq., Federal Rule of Criminal

Procedure 48(b), and any other applicable statutes or rules, including the Local Rules of the United

States District Court for the Northem District of West Virginia for the period during which this

Agreement is in effect. This waiver is knowing, voluntary and in express reliance on the advice

of Defendant Skinner's counsel.

1 1. The Office agrees that, if Defendant Skinner remains in compliance with all of his

obligations under this Agreement for the l2-month period identified in paragraph 10, this

Agreement shall expire, and the Office will, within thirty (30) days of the expiration of this

7
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Agreement, move the Court pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(a) to dismiss the

Indictment with prejudice. Except in the event of a breach of this Agreement, the Offrce will

bring no additional charges against Defendant Skinner relating to or arising out of the matters set

forth in the Indictment.

12. It is further understood that, should the Office determine that Defendant Skinner

has deliberately given materially false, incomplete, or misleading information pursuant to this

Agreement; has committed any crimes subsequent to the date of this Agreement; or has otherwise

knowingly, intentionally, and materially violated any provision of this Agreement, Defendant

Skinner thereafter shall be subject to prosecution for any crimes of which the Office has

knowledge. Any such prosecution may be premised on any information provided by or on behalf

of Defendant Skinner to the Office or its law enforcement agency partners at any time. Moreover,

Defendant Skinner agrees that any such prosecution relating to the allegations in the Indictment

that are not time-barred as of the date of the execution of this Agreement may be commenced

against Defendant Skinner, notwithstanding the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations

between the execution of this Agreement and the expiration of this Agreement under paragraph

10. By this Agreement, Defendant Skinner expressly intends to and does waive any and all rights

in this respect. Such waiver is knowing, voluntary and in express reliance on the advice of

Defendant Skinner's counsel.

13. It is further agreed that, in the event that the Office determines that Defendant

Skinner has knowingly, intentionally and materially violated any provision of this Agreement:

a. this Agreement and the Indictment are admissible in any future court proceedings

by this Office against Defendant Skinner as an admission by Defendant Skinner;

8
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all statements made by or on behalf of Defendant Skinner to the Office and its law

enforcement agency partners, including any testimony given by Defendant Skinner

before a grand jury or elsewhere, whether before or after the date of this Agreement,

and any leads derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in

evidence in any and all criminal proceedings brought by the Office against

Defendant Skinner; and

b. Defendant Skinner shall not assert any claim under the United States Constitution,

Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal

Rules of Evidence or any other statute or federal rule that statements made by or on

behalf of Defendant Skinner before or after the date of this Agreement, or any leads

derived therefrom, should be suppressed. However, nothing in the Agreement

shall constitute a waiver of any Confrontation Clause rights under the Sixth

Amendment to the United States Constitution that Defendant Skinner may have.

14. Defendant Skinner agrees that he shall not personally or through his attorney make

any public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting his acceptance of responsibility for

the stipulated conduct in the JIC agreement. Any such contradictory statement by Defendant

Skinner or his present or future attorneys shall constitute a breach of this Agreement, and, subject

to cure as hereinafter provided, Defendant Skinner thereafter shall be subject to prosecution as

specified in paragraphs 10 through 13. The decision as to whether any such contradictory

statement will be imputed to Defendant Skinner for the purpose of determining whether Defendant

Skinner has breached this Agreement shall be committed to the sole discretion of the Office.

Upon the Office's notiffing Defendant Skinner of any such contradictory statement, Defendant

9
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Skinner may avoid a finding of a breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement

within seventy-two (72) hours after receipt of notice by the Office.

15. It is understood that this Agreement is binding on Defendant Skinner and the

Office, but specifically does not bind any other federal agencies, any state or local law enforcement

agencies, any licensing authorities or any regulatory authorities. However, if requested by

Defendant Skinner or his attorney, the Office will bring to the attention of any such agencies,

including but not limited to any licensing authorities, the Agreement, the extensive cooperation of

Skinner and his compliance with his obligations under this Agreement. It is the intent of the

parties to this Agreement that the Agreement does not confer or provide any benefits, privileges

or rights to any individual or other entity other than the parties hereto, and that nothing in the

Agreement shall be construed as acknowledging that the Agreement, including the Indictment and

the evidence underlying the Agreement or Indictment, shall be admissible in any proceeding other

than a proceeding brought by the Office. Moreover, Defendant Skinner may raise any and all

defenses and/or assert affirmative claims in any civil proceedings brought by third parties as long

as doing so does not otherwise violate any term of this Agreement.

16. The Office has concluded that deferring prosecution is appropriate because deferral

will likely meet all of the goals of prosecution. This conclusion is based on Defendant Skinner's

cooperation, his acceptance of responsibility, and the remedial actions Defendant Skinner has

committed to undertake in this Agreement.

17. Defendant Skinner and the Office agree that, upon the execution of this Agreement,

this Agreement (including any attachments) shall be publicly filed in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of West Virginia.

l0
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18. This Agreement sets forth all the terms of the Deferred Prosecution Agteement

between Defendant Skinner and the Office. No modifications or additions to this Agreement shall

be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the Office, Defendant's attorneys and Defendant

Skinner.

Dated:
q t9 tq

WILLIAM J. POWELL
United

Virginia

alzslzoff

U.S. Attomey

CONSENTED TO BY:

Thomas G. Dyer, Esq., Counsel for Defendant Skinner

By:

1l
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